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BASIC DETAILS 
 
Cottage built c.1800, remodelled 1861 
 
Fowl House and shed built 1861 
 
Designed (probably) by W.H. Gee 
 
Acquired by Landmark Trust 1988 
 
Architect for repair:  Andrew Thomas 
 of Jones Thomas Associates 
 
Builders:  Evans and Owen 
 
Foreman:  David Williams 
 
Work on cottage completed 1989 
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Summary – The Fowl House & Poultry Cottage 
 
The Fowl House, or Poultry House as it is often known, was built in 1861, the 
date is set above the door. It is said to have been a birthday present for Georgina, 
one of the daughters of John Naylor of Leighton Hall, and was probably designed 
by the Liverpool architect W.H. Gee, who also designed the Hall and the church.  
 
A fashion for keeping ornamental fowl had been set by Queen Victoria, who built 
an elaborate Poultry House at Windsor in the 1840s. The arrival of new and 
exotic breeds from abroad, such as Cochins, and the growth of experience in 
breeding new varieties at home, led to its becoming a popular hobby among all 
classes of society. Few people went into poultry-keeping on such a grand scale 
as John Naylor, but everything he did is of similar magnificence. He came from a 
family of Liverpool bankers, the Leylands, and spent large sums on the 
development of Leighton as a model estate in the 1850s. The Fowl House must 
have gone some way towards fulfilling the ideal of making the country house self-
sufficient in produce, even if the chief purpose of the birds kept here was for 
decoration and amusement.  
 
The Fowl House was divided into compartments for the different breeds and 
types of birds. Several of the nesting boxes survive, showing that large birds 
such as turkeys and geese were kept here, as well as hens and ducks. Each was 
carefully segregated from the other, even when let out into the yard to scratch, 
or onto the pond to swim. A storm shed was provided for wet days, and the 
whole complex was surrounded by a fence.  
 
The everyday care of the birds was under the supervision of a Poultry-keeper, 
who lived in the cottage just beside the yard, today’s Landmark. It is in fact an 
earlier building, dating from about 1800, but was smartened up in 1861 to match 
its neighbours.  
 
The Leighton estate was sold in separate lots by John Naylor's grandson in 1931. 
The Fowl House was included with the Forestry plantations, and has remained in 
the same ownership until it was sold to the Landmark Trust in 1988, which now 
cares for both the Fowl House and the cottage, now let for holidays. 
 
The Hall is now again private ownership and is not accessible to the public - the 
outlying smallholdings and some of the buildings are still in the hands of the heirs 
to their 1931 purchaser, Montgomery County Council (today Powys County 
Council). In 2011 Mr James Potter, owner of the Welshpool based Potters Group 
and who has a house next to the old hall called Tudor Lodge, bought a long lease 
on the Model Farm and its c. 200 acres. He plans to restore them, halting their 
slow slide into ruin and preventing the fragmentation that has beset the rest of 
the estate. His long term intention is to create a National Stud Farm. 
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Restoration  
 
It is unlikely that exotic fowl have pecked and scratched here since 1914, and 
the Fowl House had inevitably fallen into disrepair, its surroundings overgrown. 
The cottage had remained inhabited however and needed only minor repairs and 
alterations, including the reinstatement of the chimneypots and of the original 
lime render on the walls, to prevent damp.  
 
Work was needed on the exterior of the Fowl House itself. Some areas of the 
timber framing had decayed, and new wood had to be pieced in, using Douglas fir 
to match the original. The finials on the gables had also to be renewed, and then 
the whole frame repainted with red lead paint. The roof was stripped and re-laid 
in sections, reusing the old slates. Damaged stained glass windows were 
repaired. Outside, the yard, the pond, the storm shed and the perimeter fence all 
look much as they did in the days of John Naylor, and Georgiana.  
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The Fowl House 
 
The Poultry Yard and Fowl House (so called because it clearly contained a variety 

of birds, other than hens) were built in 1861, which date is set above the door. It 

is said to have been a birthday present for one of the daughters of John Naylor of 

Leighton Hall (though presumably not her 21st, as one story maintains, since her 

parents were only married in 1845), and surviving members of the family say that 

it was for Georgina, his fourth daughter. If the initials above the door are G I N, 

rather than C I N as appears at first glance (and which doesn't fit any members of 

the family) then the tradition would seem to be true. Georgina Naylor, born in 

1854 was an artist and sculptress, who studied at the Slade School of Fine Art in 

London. She died aged 95, in 1950.  

 

The designer of the buildings is not recorded, but it is likely to have been an 

obscure Liverpool architect named W.H. Gee, who was employed by Mr Naylor 

both for the building of Leighton Hall itself, and of the church, and several of the 

farm buildings on the estate. 

 

For the fitting out of the interior of the Fowl House Mr Naylor probably consulted 

the works of one of the contemporary authorities on poultry, such as W.B. 

Dickson or J.C. Morton.  

 

The entry for Poultry Houses in the latter's Encyclopaedia of Agriculture (1851-

5), for instance, recommends that the house should be ‘lofty and spacious’ with 

a paved floor, and a yard and shed attached (the shed or storm-house ‘with 

proper roosts fixed all along its interior’ and the yard ‘surrounded by a low wall 

surmounted by a paling or latticed fence of wood or iron wire’); and continues: 

It is a decided improvement to place the nests not next to the wall, but at 
such a distance from it as to leave a passage between them and the wall. 
The side of the nests next the passage is then formed of lattice work, or 
wire netting, made to open like a door. This arrangement, besides tending to 
keep the nests sweet, and admitting to their being easier cleansed, allows 
the fowls to be set, and the eggs to be withdrawn, without going into the 
house - not always an agreeable duty for one whose clothes can be spoiled. 
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The passage above the nests should be separated from the poultry-house by 
a lattice or wire netting partition extending to the roof.  
 

All of which advice seems to have been followed at Leighton. A great many eggs 

must have been produced, and the Fowl House gone far towards achieving the 

aim of Bonington Moubray, one of the earliest writers to deal with the subject in  

A Practical Treatise on Breeding, Rearing and Fattening all Kinds of Domestic 

Poultry, Pheasants, Pigeons and Rabbits (first published in 1815, with successive 

further editions each adding advice on a new subject of which he had ‘a lifetime's 

experience’, until pigs, milch cows, bees and brewing are all covered) of ‘making 

the country house its own mart for the supply of all necessaries.’ 

 

 

 

 

Possibly taken in the early 1900s.  
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It is clear that such an elaborate building was more than just an attempt to be 

sure of having fresh eggs for breakfast, however. It is perhaps more accurate to 

think of it as being as much an Aviary as a Poultry house, because the birds 

contained in it would have been valued as much for their ornamental as for their 

productive qualities. And in setting up such a thing Mr Naylor was entirely up 

with the fashion of the day, as he was in the large scale improvements being 

carried out all over his ‘model’ estate. 

 

He was also typical in giving over its nominal supervision to his daughter, 

because by long and deeply ingrained tradition, poultry, whether practical or 

ornamental, were seen as very much a woman's interest:  it was always the 

farmer's wife who was in charge of the hens, and of the income that came from 

selling the eggs. A recent example at a higher level had been provided by Queen 

Victoria herself, who had caused to be built in about 1843 a Poultry House or 

Aviary at Windsor, which was widely praised, and in which she took a close 

personal interest. 

 

It was Queen Victoria too who sparked off what came to be called Cochin Mania. 

In the early 19th century the number of poultry breeds was small. Moubray in 

1815 listed only nine, in addition to turkeys, ducks, geese, guinea and pea fowl, 

as being suitable birds for a gentleman's poultry house:  Dunghill, Game, Dorking, 

Poland, Bantam, Chittagong or Malay, Shackbag, Hamburgh, Indian Cock, and the 

Muscovite Black Game Cock.  

 

An interest in large-scale poultry farming on gentlemen's estates had certainly 

existed before this:  the poultry house on Lord Penrhyn's estate at Winnington in 

Cheshire, described in The Complete Farmer of 1807, was immense, containing 

600 birds, with a facade 140 feet long and colonnades and pavilions in the Italian 

style. And Moubray was not alone in encouraging more: J.C. Loudon in his many-

times-revised Encyclopaedia of Agriculture included a long entry on the subject, 
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with a plan and elevation of a suitable house, and even Sir John Soane produced 

designs for a poultry house. 

 

In general, however, until the mid-19th century the greatest concentration of 

interest in breeding was devoted not to domestic poultry, but to game fowl, for 

use in the sport of cock-fighting. On some estates several hundred birds were 

kept for this purpose alone, and keepers were employed to supervise the 

production of prize-winning cocks. Considerable skill in selective breeding had 

thus been built up when, from about 1830 on, popular taste started to turn 

against barbaric sports of this kind, leading to it being banned altogether in 1849. 

 

Such experience now found a new outlet:  in the breeding of ornamental poultry. 

Again, there had been examples of this since the beginning of the century and 

before, with men such as Sir John Sebright, President of the English Board of 

Agriculture, starting to breed exotic Bantams in about 1800. But over the next 

thirty or forty years others began to discover the satisfaction of creating new 

varieties - an end result that can be achieved much more quickly with chickens 

than with cows or pigs.  

 

As cock-fighting became discredited, breeding for amusement and ornament 

became ever more popular. New breeds were introduced from abroad, and by 

1838 when the first edition of Dickson's Poultry came out, the list had greatly 

increased: 

 Barn-door fowl  Turkish fowl 
 Dung-hill fowl  Dwarf fowl, or Creeper 
 Game fowl   Rumkin (Rumpless) fowl 
 Dorking fowl   Pencilled Dutch fowl 
 Paduan or Polish fowl Silky fowl 
 Crested fowl   Frizzled fowl 
 Spanish fowl  Negro fowl 
 Hamburg fowl  Russian, or Siberian fowl 
 Bantam fowl   Barbary fowl 
 Malay or Chittagong fowl Ever-laying fowl 
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From The Illustrated London News, 17th August 1861: 

 

  

“The Royal Aviary 
 
The Royal aviary is situated very near the new dairy, a view of the 
interior of which we gave a week or two back, both being in the locality 
of the charming Home Park. The aviary is, however, of older date, but, 
from tits picturesque appearance and situation, we have been induced to 
give out readers a view of it. The long range of buildings is divided into 
various houses for the convenience and occupation of the feathered tribe, 
some of which are of great beauty. In front of the building is a network of 
wire inclosing a little paddock or run, also having divisions for the 
separate kinds of birds or fowls:  these are nicely paved, and have a strip 
of gravel on one side, with a patch of grass, so that the birds may amuse 
themselves in their in their habitual pickings. There is a broad terrace in 
front of these, forming a nice walk; beyond this and the aviary is a 
semicircular basin filled with water, in the centre of which is fountain. 
On the opposite sloping sides of this ornamental piece of water are some 
tame goats, the gentle gambols of which have often amused the junior 
branches of the Royal family in their hours of relaxation and 
amusement.” 
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So it was to a public fully ready to appreciate them that the next arrivals were 

introduced:  in 1843 Her Majesty was presented with five pullets and two 

cockerels just off the ship from China, of a breed which was given the name of 

Shanghai, or Cochin. They caused a sensation. An illustration of them was 

included in The Illustrated London News, and soon everyone wanted them. Her 

Majesty gave eggs or chicks generously, but before long a lively trade developed. 

In 1846 The Queen sent a pair on exhibition to Dublin Cattle Show and they 

‘created such a sensation from their great size and immense weight and the  

full, loud, deep-pitched crowing of the cock, that almost everyone seemed 

desirous to possess some of the breed and enormous prices were given for the 

eggs and chickens.’ (£100 is recorded as having been paid for a good cockerel). 

 

For the duration of the Mania, which lasted about ten years, poultry breeding 

became a universal hobby, taken up by men as well as by women - C.M Yonge in 

The Daisy Chain (1856) accurately describes the phenomenon:  

‘Why, George, that is a finer egg than ever’, as he entered with a Shanghae 
egg in each hand, for her to mark with the date when it had been laid. 
Poultry was a new hobby, and Ethel had been hearing in her tête-à-tête 
dinners with George, a great deal about the perfections of the hideous 
monsters that had obtained fabulous prices. They had been the best resource 
for conversation; but she watched, with something between vexation and 
softness, how Flora roused herself to give her full attention and interest to 
his prosing about his pets, really pleased as it seemed; and, at last, 
encouraging him actually to fetch his favourite cock to show her; when she 
went through the points of perfection of the ungainly mass of feathers, and 
did not at all allow Ethel to laugh at the unearthly sounds of disapproval 
which handling elicited. ... Ethel did her best, and said the cock had a bright 
eye - all she could say for him - and invited her to a poultry show, at 
Whitford, in two days' time - and they sent him away to continue his 
consultations with the poultry woman, which pullets should be preferred as 
candidates for a prize.’ 

 

A main source of the Cochin's attraction was the great number of eggs that it 

laid (though this proved to be a biological freak, since after it had become well-

established in its new surroundings its egg production proved less prolific). As 

time went on, however, the breeding and showing of birds for ornament became 

separated from their usefulness as egg- producers. Egg production pure and 
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simple remained firmly the province of the farmer's wife, and although breeds 

were crossed and improved, exotic plumage was not of the first importance. 

 

As an illustration of this divergence between poultry- keeping as a hobby, and as 

a straightforward source of food, Queen Victoria is again a good example, 

because she seems to have been as influential in this field as her husband, Prince 

Albert, was for agriculture as a whole. In the mid-1850s a new and extensive 

farmstead was erected at Windsor, called the Shaw Farm. Among the beautifully 

planned and laid out buildings was an extensive range of poultry houses, with a 

poultry-woman's cottage attached. It was here that the serious business of egg 

production was to take place. The older poultry house, or Aviary, became the 

place for birds whose chief attribute was the beauty of their appearance - 

beautiful hens, yes, but also golden and silver pheasants, peacocks, turkeys and 

other rare birds. 

 

It was on the Aviary, rather than the more matter-of-fact poultry houses of Shaw 

Farm, that the Leighton Fowl House was modelled, at least indirectly. With its 

‘semi-gothic’ appearance, and its bargeboards, it even resembles it 

architecturally. It went further than the Windsor Aviary in that it also contained 

water fowl, but otherwise the arrangement is quite similar to that described by 

Dickson or The Illustrated London News. It is easy to imagine the pleasure that it 

must have given to the Naylor children. 
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From J C Loudon, An Encyclopaedia of Agriculture (5th edition) 1844
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Dickson’s 1st edition was published in 1838 and was the principal work of 
reference for the years of “cochin mania”. As revised by Mrs Loudon it 
continued as a leading work on poultry-breeding for the rest of the 19th 
century. It is interesting to compare his descriptions of Queen Victoria’s 

poultry-houses at Windsor (the ‘principal house’ being the Aviary) and Lord 
Penrhyn’s at Winnington, with that at Leighton. 
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(Dickson’s advice on separating different breeds was clearly followed by Mr 
Naylor, since both the yard and the pond had dividing fences originally). 
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1988 
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The Poultry-Keeper’s Cottage 

 

Georgina Naylor would not have cared for the birds herself, although she probably 

enjoyed collecting the eggs without spoiling her clothes. Their day-to-day care 

and supervision would have been the responsibility of a full-time poultry-keeper, 

male or female. Sir Edward Brown in British Poultry Husbandry (1930), his history 

of the development of poultry breeding, says that it was these poultry-keepers on 

large estates, who had been brought up, perhaps, to breed fighting cocks, who 

proved to be the experts in the creation of new varieties and breeds. And Dickson 

is firm in recommending the employment of a full-time keeper, where great 

numbers of birds are to be kept. 

 

The poultry-keeper had to be close to the birds, day and night, so a special 

cottage was generally provided, and Leighton was no exception in this. Here the 

cottage overlooks the enclosure but is slightly removed from it; though not far 

enough off to prevent it being part of the same picturesque group. 

 

Its picturesque appearance is slightly deceptive, however, since it has been 

applied to what is basically a perfectly ordinary cottage of the late 18th or early 

19th century - a time when solid, symmetrical cottages and farmhouses, of one 

or two stories and often with a lean-to at the back as here - were being built in 

great numbers in rural areas, as the economic effects of the agricultural 

improvements of the 18th century began to be felt.  

 

When the Fowl House was being built in 1861 the cottage was smartened up 

with new stone windows and chimney pots - the same as those on the main 

house and quite possibly left over from it. It was also newly fitted out inside, 

with a range in the living room, and new joinery. The woodwork seems actually 

to have been grained in the fashionable manner, since a small area of this 

survived inside a cupboard, so that the whole building became a true, if late, 

example of the cottage orné. 
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The cottage in 1988, before restoration work started. 
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Landmark’s Acquisition and 
The Repair of the Fowl House and Poultry-Keeper’s Cottage 
 

It is many years since exotic hens have pecked in the poultry yard, or rare ducks 

swum in the pond. It is in fact unlikely that either the Fowl House or the Poultry-

Keeper's Cottage have been used for their original purpose since the First World 

War; and certainly not since the whole Leighton estate was sold in 1931.  

 

At the time of the sale this part of the estate, with all the woodlands, was 

bought by Major Charles Ackers. A past president of the Royal Forestry Society, 

Major Ackers was keenly interested in forestry, for which the Leighton estate 

was already famous. He presented the 33 Redwoods planted by John Naylor in 

1857 to the Society, and in 1935 planted a further 6.5 ha/16 acres of 

Redwoods. These Redwoods are the largest Sequoia Sempervirens stand in 

Europe, and there is further stand of Dawn Redwoods (Metsequoia 

Glyptostroboides) and many other magnificent trees within the 900 acres of the 

estate. Major Ackers was less interested in poultry. The cottage was used to 

house one of the woodmen, but the Fowl House, inevitably, was left to decay. 

 

Since 1977 the woodlands have been owned and managed by Mr C.F.E. 

Shakerley. Soon after this, necessary economies meant a reduction in the number 

of men employed, and the cottage was no longer needed as estate housing. As a 

result in 1987 the whole Poultry Yard was put up for sale. 

 

Hearing about this, the Landmark Trust was immediately interested. The Fowl 

House, like everything at Leighton, represents Victorian model farming at its most 

grand; more than that, almost no other building of this kind survives, especially 

with its fittings so nearly intact - even Queen Victoria's at Windsor has long been 

converted into cottages. If sold to a private buyer, it was unlikely that the Fowl 

House itself would escape conversion into a house. Landmark, on the other hand, 

had all the accommodation it would need in the cottage, and could leave  

  



                                                                       Poultry Cottage History Album 

24 

 
 

The sitting room fireplace in 1988 and kitchen (below). 
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the rest as found, with its array of nesting boxes, roosts, storage bins for food 

and so on, for visitors to enjoy. The purchase was completed in 1988.  

 

Work on the Cottage 

Work began with the Cottage. This is built of a local stone, which is of poor 

quality, being very shaley. It was almost certainly rendered when it was first built 

(traces of plaster were in fact found under the eaves), and this would have 

prevented water from penetrating. However when the cottage was ‘improved’ in 

1861 the render was taken off. As a result the cottage was suffering from damp, 

and so the decision was made to render it again, using a lime plaster mixed with 

coarse grit to give it a rough texture. 

 

The roof also needed renewing, which was done using second-hand slates. Those 

of the old slates that were still sound, were used to cover the lean-to at the back. 

The chimneys were repaired at the same time. Two of the chimney pots had been 

taken down, being badly cracked and broken. Copies were made of these, 

although instead of being moulded out of a composite material, intended to look 

like Bath stone, they were actually carved from Bath stone proper, which turned 

out to be both easier and less expensive.  

 

The lean-to, containing the kitchen and bathroom, was in very poor condition, 

and had to be almost completely rebuilt. The back door was moved at the same 

time to improve the layout of the kitchen. The windows in the lean-to are all new, 

but are copies of the Victorian, one of which survived. In the main part of the 

cottage the work was straightforward. In the sitting room the original fireplace 

was re-opened. A concrete tile floor was taken up and a new pitch pine board 

floor laid - there was already a wooden floor in the room next to it. 
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Upstairs, the floorboards in the bedroom to the left of the stairs are old, a mixture 

of those that were sound from both rooms. Those in the other bedroom are new, 

and are also pine. 

 

The paintwork on all the old doors was copied from the surviving patch of 

graining, which was on the inside of the cupboard door at the top of the stairs. . 

This, unfortunately, was itself painted over, by mistake. 
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The poultry yard in 1988. 
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Work on the Fowl House 

On the Fowl House itself the repairs have so far been concentrated on the 

outside. Some areas of the timber frame were rotten and needed to have new 

wood (Douglas fir to match the original) pieced in. The finials on the gables were 

renewed, and then all the external timber was repainted, using the same pure red 

lead paint. The roof was stripped and re-laid in sections, reusing the original 

slates. The stained glass of the windows was mended and re-instated when the 

exterior works were completed.  

 

The interior was left much the same as in John Naylor’s day. W.B. Dickson in his 

book Poultry (1838) writes of nesting boxes that ‘every carpenter knows the 

form.’  We took the view that the best thing was simply to repair and secure 

what was left, and do no more. However, it is tempting to imagine a time when 

visitors in the cottage might wake to the ‘deep-pitched crowing’ of a Cochin 

cockerel. 
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Nesting boxes for large fowl….and small. 
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The Naylors and Leighton Hall  

 

John Naylor, who transformed the old Montgomeryshire estate of Leighton into a 

model of Victorian agricultural efficiency, came, on his mother's side, from two 

families of Liverpool bankers, the Leylands and the Bullins. Of his father's family, 

originally Lancashire yeomen, his grandfather Thomas Naylor was Mayor of 

Liverpool in 1796. John's father died when he and his sister and brothers were 

very young, and they were effectively brought up by two uncles, Richard and 

Christopher Bullin, but very much under the shadow of a great-uncle, Thomas 

Leyland, from whom came the fortune that enabled John and at least one of his 

brothers to become landed gentry on a grand scale. 

 

Leighton was bought for John as a wedding present by his uncle Christopher in 

1845. It had belonged to the Corbett family, of Longnor, but had for some time 

been leased to the Parrys of Pooltown. No record survives of the old house, 

which was soon to disappear without a trace, as John set about the construction 

of Leighton Hall.  

 

This took four or five years to build, but was largely complete by 1851. W.H. 

Gee, the architect, is otherwise unknown, apart from an undistinguished church 

in Liverpool, but his work, if rather heavy-handed, is certainly competent - the 

detail of the stonework, for instance, shows considerable skill and imagination. 

For the interior of the house, and for the gardens, John went higher up the 

artistic scale - J.G. Crace, using Pugin's designs, was responsible for the 

decoration of the main rooms, and Edward Kemp, a pupil of Paxton's, laid out the 

elaborate and extensive gardens.  

 

The Hall was only the beginning, however. Soon afterwards came the church, the 

village school and hall, farmworkers cottages innumerable, and of course the 

whole immense layout of the model estate, with its own gas works, railway  
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siding, workshops and elaborate system for distributing manure, besides the 

purely agricultural buildings of the Home Farm, which include a circular piggery.   

 

Forestry was another of John Naylor's interests; the woodlands soon contained 

some fine specimens of both native and imported varieties. Redwoods were a 

particular favourite; and in 1888, a year before his death, a new hybrid cypress 

was propagated, the Cypress Leylandii, named after his great-uncle Thomas. 

 

At the same time he continued to embellish his house, with a collection of 

pictures including works by Landseer, Turner and Wilkie; and the gardens were 

crammed with statues, as can be seen in the Country Life articles of 1902. 

    

All this while he had kept up his links with the family bank, the Leyland and 

Bullins, where he had gone to work after leaving Eton, and to which he had been 

admitted as a partner in 1844. In 1846 he had married Georgiana Edwards of 

Ness Strange, Shropshire. It is perhaps typical of him that for their honeymoon 

they went to the Highlands, then only just becoming fashionable, and to 

commemorate it had themselves recorded in oils, complete with stag, by Richard 

Ansdell A.R.A. 

 

John was above all things an enthusiast. In all fields he wanted, it seemed, the 

latest and the best. A member of the Royal Yacht Squadron, he owned a series of 

ever larger yachts, culminating in the 267 ton schooner, ‘Sabrina’, which he 

sailed from 1863 until 1887. When he was High Sheriff of Montgomeryshire in 

1853, or when his eldest son, John Christopher, came of age in 1870, he staged 

grander and more extravagant festivities than had ever been known in the county 

before. 

 

It is easy to dismiss men such as Naylor as upstart nouveaux-riches - and 

certainly some of the display at Leighton must have been intended to outshine 

Powis Castle on the other side of the valley; but with his energy, and intelligence, 



                                                                       Poultry Cottage History Album 

38 

and generosity - he was adored by those who worked on his estates, to whom he 

doled out regular gifts of coal and blankets - his readiness to learn, and to 

experiment, he was also an example of all that was best about the vigorous and 

frequently over-sized Victorian Age. 

 

John Naylor died in 1889, and by complicated family arrangement it was his third 

son, John, who inherited Leighton: to the eldest son, Christopher, went the bulk 

of the Leyland fortune and with it Haggerston Castle, Northumberland, where he 

lived, and this was regarded as quite enough, without the Montgomeryshire 

estates as well. 

 

While managing the Leighton estate, John Jnr. remained an active partner of the 

Leyland and Bullins Bank (until it amalgamated with the North and South Wales 

Bank in 1901). He never actually lived at Leighton Hall, however. This had 

remained the home of his mother, with those of his seven sisters who were 

unmarried, and she outlived her son by three years, dying only in 1909.  

 

Thereafter John's widow and four sons made it their home, until the eldest, John 

Murray, decided to put it all up for sale in 1931. It is sad for us today that there 

was no single buyer for at least the heart of the estate. In the event the 

woodlands became separated from the Home Farm, and the Hall itself had 

another owner again. Although the owners of the two former parts have 

individually kept to the tradition of good management laid down by John Naylor, 

it is inevitable that in a fragmented estate much will be lost that was designed to 

serve the whole. 

 

It is fortunate that in recent years the Ironbridge Institute and the Royal 

Commission on Ancient and Historical Monuments for Wales combined to make a 

detailed survey of the estate buildings and machinery, before too much 

disappeared. From this study it has emerged more clearly than ever what a 

remarkable place Leighton is, both in its original creation and in its survival until 
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now. It would be better still if as a result of it, a united policy of preservation 

could be developed.   

 

The Hall, and the park, have not fared so well. In 1931 the purchaser of the Hall 

itself was John Murray Naylor's aunt, the Georgina for whom the Fowl House 

was built. Aunt Gina, as she was known, was a talented painter (her copies of 

her father's Turners hang in the Powysland Museum) who had studied at the 

Slade, but had thereafter lived with her mother at Leighton. When it became clear 

that the whole place was to be broken up she stepped in to salvage what she 

could, and bought the house with the aim of keeping it going for any members of 

the family who wished to live there or stay there. Her scheme was not 

successful, however, and a few years later she in her turn had to sell it. There 

have been several owners since then, the gardens were extensively damaged by 

flood in 1973, and the park has been developed for housing.  

 

The Hall is now again private ownership and is not accessible to the public - the 

outlying smallholdings and some of the buildings are still in the hands of the heirs 

to their 1931 purchaser, Montgomery County Council (today Powys County 

Council). In 2011 Mr James Potter, owner of the Welshpool based Potters Group 

and who has a house next to the old hall called Tudor Lodge, bought a long lease 

on the Model Farm and its c. 200 acres. He plans to restore them, halting their 

slow slide into ruin and preventing the fragmentation that has beset the rest of 

the estate. His long term intention is to create a National Stud Farm. 

 

 

Charlotte Haslam, May 1989 

Updated August 2011 
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From the South East
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Bridge on the South East
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The Lion Bridge
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The south east terrace 



                                                                       Poultry Cottage History Album 

46 



                                                                       Poultry Cottage History Album 

47 



                                                                       Poultry Cottage History Album 

48 

  

 

 

John and Georgiana Naylor (both 1857), by Francis Grant (1803 – 1878). Both 
portraits are in the Walker Art Gallery, Liverpool 
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From The Family of Naylor from 1589 by Thomas H. Naylor 1967: 
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Leighton Park Estate; Repairs of Student Survey;  

The Ironbridge Institute 

 

In the Introduction to the first Research Paper No 23 (1987), Dr Michael Stratton 

summarises the forces behind John Naylor's work at Leighton: 

The high capital investment in the Leighton Park estate reflects the tendency 
among Victorian farm improvers to increase efficiency and reduce labour, by 
new mechanisation and better design. The Victorian boom in new farmstead 
construction reached a peak between 1850 and 1870. During this period, 
the principles of model farming were laid down. 
 
A. Bailey Denton, (engineer to the General Land Drainage and Improvement 
Company) set out many of his principles in his book The Farmsteads of 
England (1863). These included more shelter for stock, better utilisation of 
manure, and the designing of homesteads in such a manner as to make them 
partly, if not completely, covered. The manufacturing industry was used as a 
source of comparison, with its efficient arrangement of production in order to 
economise on time and labour. 
 
Leighton Park estate embodies these principles both in the layout and 
construction of the farm, and in the use of water powered machinery. A barn 
was essential to any farm, especially with the farm improvers demanding 
that hay should be better appreciated as a source of food. The barn at Glan 
Hafren (designed by Gee) is an example of the high quality design and 
workmanship that Denton considered necessary in model farm building. 
Elements of the barn, such as the windows, rolling doors and stock yard can 
be seen in Denton's book.  
 
The preservation of farm manure was very important to Victorian high 
farming....The use of manure for fertiliser would appear to have exploited at 
Leighton Park Estate. An article in the Express and Times Gazette quotes 
people who could remember manure being pumped up to a sewage tank on 
top of Moel y Mab, on the estate. The manure was stored in this tank and 
then pumped back down to the estate as fertiliser. A tank still exists on Moel 
y Mab to substantiate this claim. It would appear that a funicular railway 
was originally used to transport the manure up the hillside (though further 
investigations for a subsequent report doubt that this was so; the railway 
seems to have been built for the transport of people only, possibly to mark 
some great family event). 
 
At Leighton John Naylor continued to develop the ideas of model farming. 
He adopted as many principles as possible to make the estate cost efficient 
and also save as much on labour as possible.  
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Llanfair Railway Journal, No 101 (1986)  
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